



THESIS SUMMARY

to the Ph.D. dissertation of

Eszter Deli

titled

The Triadic Concept of Visual Rhetoric - Theoretical Framework and Case Studies

Visual Rhetoric in Disaster News Communications

Supervisor:

"Dr. Petra Katalin Aczél Ph.D" full professor

2018, Budapest

Institute of Behavioural Sciences and Communication Theory

THESIS SUMMARY

to the Ph.D. dissertation of

Eszter Deli

titled

The Triadic Concept of Visual Rhetoric - Theoretical Framework and Case Studies

Visual Rhetoric in Disaster News Communications

Supervisor:

"Dr. Petra Katalin Aczél Ph.D" full professor

© Eszter Deli

Contents

Con	ntents	3
1.	Background of research, relevance of the topic	4
1.1.	Argumentation as a product (productum)	4
1.2.	Argumentation as a procedure (procedura)	5
1.3.	Argumentation as a process (processzus)	5
2.	Methodology of the dissertation.	7
2.1.	Case study	7
3.	The results of the research	8
4.	Summary of conclusions	12
4.1.	Proving the assumptions, summing up the results of the research	12
5.	Primary sources	15
5.1.	Printed sources	15
5.2.	Online sources	18
6.	Publications	19
6.1.	Conference publication	19
6.2.	Online Journal	19
6.3.	Book chapter	20
6.4.	Publications with a co-writer	20
6.5.	Related presentations	21
7.	Appendix	21

1. Background of research, relevance of the topic

Visual rhetoric has come about with the emergence of a relatively new theoretical framework that describes how visual images communicate as opposed to aural, verbal and other messages. Due to its complex and interdisciplinary nature, it is related to various disciplines such as linguistics, semiotics, art history, marketing and communication, or classical rhetoric (CTI Reviews [2016]). But its disciplinary existence is refuted by many prominent thinkers of the field.

The long-established rhetoric enjoyed absolute ideological hegemony, focusing purely linguistic artefacts, while visual symbols were considered insignificant, and indicated as secondary. Because of this discourse-based tradition, rhetoricians do not have the sophisticated understanding needed in order to create meaning by visual components (Foss [2008]). The birth of the present dissertation was inspired by the curiosity to assess the controversies and the dichotomy surrounding visual rhetoric. The choice of my treatise topic was highly motivated by the fact that the visual components of argumentation and persuasion do not get enough attention, despite the fact that most often we refer to the present period as the "modern era of pictures" (Tasnádi [2012]) or – based on Mitchell – the "pictorial turn" (Mitchell [1995]) and we can say that pictures tower over words as never before.

The present dissertation – going beyond the approach of rhetoric as persuasion and framing – offers a new paradigm. My paper presents a compound, complex rhetoric, the specificity of which is that it is not just about the object, but about how the object is made and how it is being used. For this reason, the theoretical frame of argumentation as product (argumentation as a result or artefact), procedure (argumentation as an operative procedure) and process (argumentation as a communicative process) is considered valid for the images, referring to the triadic concept of visual rhetoric in the title:

1.1. Argumentation as a product (productum)

An argumentative text differs from a descriptive or a narrative one in that it sets out a certain position, which it seeks to justify (Aczél [2005]). The examination of this type of text is based primarily on the principles of formal logic, and with the help of formal logic one can determine the validity and correctness of the proof. The most basic element and organising principle of proof is called syllogism, that is, propositional statements, with distinct premises that lead to the conclusion. If the form of the argumentation is incorrect and the conclusion is

not proven, then the syllogism itself is also invalid. Validity therefore applies to the form and is independent of the content of the argument (al-Musawi [2006]).

Argumentation as a product offers a fairly free view: it does not deal with the creator of the argument, it does not deal with their purpose and nor does it deal with whom the argument was addressed to. It is basically a concept deprived of its contextual elements. The product-oriented view is a structure-centred perspective which neglects or does not primarily deal with communicative aspects.

Visual rhetoric regarded as a product or artefact is no more than an actual picture created by rhetors when they use visual symbols for communication. We can regard it as tangible evidence of creative activities such as paintings, advertisements, or buildings. The artefact-oriented approach therefore reinforces the same concept that the product-type approach offers: a context-independent, result-centred approach that focuses on a product, work of art or object, that is, an artefact.

1.2. Argumentation as a procedure (procedura)

The basis of the argumentation as procedure view is that the argumentation differs from the other means of expressing disagreement by containing certain rules that control the discourse (Aczél [2005]). In recent years, the argumentation as a procedure perspective has been applied to more informal arguments too. The approach called pragma-dialectics was introduced by experts at the University of Amsterdam, led by Eemeren and Grootendorst. The pragma-dialectical perspective of the afore mentioned researchers is based on the speech act theory, however, Douglas Walton's theory of argumentative fallacies is also relevant to the procedural approach (Walton, [1995]).

Within the field of visuality, these controlled processes are equally understood, where a certain visual element is interpreted in relation to another element, examining them in their contexts, interactions and contradictions. The examination of visual elements, therefore, gives an answer to how the possible focuses and perspectives of the images are set by the creator of the image within the logic and the method of catastrophe news images.

1.3. Argumentation as a process (processzus)

The process-based approach focuses on the conflicting and opposing ideas as well as their solutions that arise in everyday communication. In this sense, argumentation can be

interpreted as a type of interaction. This argumentative process sees the validity of argumentation as a functional concept, and thus considers persuasion as an intent or effect.

This pragmatic, effect, intention and rhetoric based perception of argumentation is also valid in the case of visuals. Images are capable of carrying meaning intended by their creators in an evocative, compressed way, thus engaging and interacting with the audience (Aczél [2012] p. 102). Just think of the images of the news, which do not transmit information, but they convey events and values, thus ensuring the possibility of experiencing and expressing opinion. The primary purpose of the process-based approach to visual argumentation is to show a certain topos: based on a picture I may think of a person being a victim and a villain, and this is due to the rhetorical nature of the argumentation.

The purpose of the dissertation is therefore to develop a comprehensive rhetorical theory by demonstrating the validity of visual rhetoric as an autonomous discipline, and by justifying the validity of the product, procedure and process-oriented methodology. As a basis of my empirical research I chose the methodology of *case study*, in order to examine the visual media representation of Hurricane Katrina regarded as a natural catastrophe and the terrorist attack against the Bataclan Theatre regarded as a man-made catastrophe, with a total of 150 images analysed. The aim of my research was also to explore the similarities and differences between the visual representation of a natural and man-made catastrophe, assuming that the case analysis will reveal a number of disparities during the examination of the two cases. Based on these, the assumptions of the present analysis are the following:

- 1. The area of visual rhetoric can be disciplinarily seized.
- 2. The field of visual rhetorical argumentation disciplinarily exists.
- 3. Visual rhetoric satisfies all three notions of argumentation: argumentation as product (argumentation as a result, product or artefact), process (argumentation as a communicative process) and procedure (argumentation as an operative procedure).
- 4. Visual rhetorical argumentation can be conceived without any linguistic translation, which advocates the creation of a new paradigm in relation to visual rhetoric and argumentation too.
- 5. Natural disasters and men-made catastrophes are depicted differently within the media regarding both the approach of product, procedure and process.

2. Methodology of the dissertation

2.1. Case study

The method of case study stems from the legal and business sphere but it has frequently been used recently in social sciences too as it is well suited for mapping and understanding complex fields, eliminating the restrictive effects of quantitative methods. The case study method allows the researcher to examine the details of a special context with great depth and a holistic view. The object of observation is usually a contemporary phenomenon, event or condition from real life, which, besides statistical data, also focuses on behavioural patterns and the perspective of the actor, both managing both qualitative and quantitative data (Zainal [2007]).

On the one hand, a case study seeks to comprehensively understand the subject under investigation and, on the other hand, it can elaborate more general theoretical statements about the regularity of the observed phenomena (Fidel [1984]). For this reason, Becker defines the case study method as an analysis of a unique case, which suggests that the knowledge of a whole phenomenon can be obtained by intensive exploration of a single case (Becker [1970]). Case studies are not strictly planned, so when a researcher starts analysing without a predetermined structure, he/she expects that the course of the research may change according to the findings. Flexibility can be considered the most important feature of this method (Becker [1970]).

The present dissertation presents the validity of the triadic (product, procedure and process oriented) concept and method of visual rhetoric through the analysis of two events. My analysis attempts to investigate the visual representation of Hurricane Katrina as a natural disaster and the attack against the Bataclan Theatre as a man-made catastrophe in the media, examining a total of 150 images. Regarding the source of the images, I relied on platforms such as CNN, US News, The New York Times, The Huffingtonpost, Daily Mail or the Nyugat, Origo and Blikk.

While this analysis captures images of specific cases – therefore it could be classified as a content analysis – I still consider my analysis primarily as a case study. The images of the two catastrophes practically condense cases, compressing historical, political and social issues. By using the case-type approach, not only the content, but the context of the images can also be taken into account. My research thus applies a kind of a hybrid method, one input of which is content analysis through the coding of images, and the other, main input is the case analysis in which I examine the context, intent, effect, displayed topoi and perspectives of the images.

Since reliability is a key element of both case and content analysis – which refers to the level of agreement between the two or more encoders – I also performed my analysis with a cocoder. In the encoding I was assisted by Gabriella Németh, a Ph.D. candidate of the Doctoral School of Social Communication of Corvinus University of Budapest. I am confident that the chosen method of analysis and the investigative aspects I propose will provide an appropriate basis for indirect experiences, contributing to the creation of a new visual rhetorical interpretation and the formulation of a new method of analysis.

For the product – procedure – and process-based analysis of the 75-75 images of the selected events, I have chosen the following code system:

- 1. Regarding the image as a **product** I examined aspects such as: sex, age, black/white, posture/proxemics, clothing, foreground, background, mise en scène (which refers to the framing of the image). Out of the 8 codes, the posture/proxemics code was dropped during the aggregation, since the figures, buildings, etc. had appeared in many different positions, therefore it was not able to provide a basis for comparison. This result or product-type approach of the image, which, by extracting its context, merely examines the elements that are present and constructs the visual element.
- 2. Considering the image as a **procedure** I have differentiated between the following codes: the point of view of the camera (from the bottom, top, front or back), motion, mimicry, the proxemics of the camera (near or far), special effects (sharp or obscure elements within the image) and time factor. The five codes mentioned above serve to analyse the approach of the creator of the image. Just as he/she sees and portrays the story. This aspect, therefore, looks at the picture in context, and its point of view is definitely a valued, will-controlled one.
- 3. Regarding the image as a **process**, I defined three codes: the intent, the effect and the topos, or the embodied element of the image (eg suffering, aggression, loss, death, etc.).

The product – procedure – process type of case analysis of the two disasters enables the holistic interpretation of a given visual element, describing the elements present in the image, the process in which they were created, and ultimately the intent and the effect it aspires to exploit, thus validating the triad of logic, dialectic and rhetoric and demonstrating that visual rhetoric is capable of satisfying all three aspects of these.

3. The results of the research

My hypothesis that the visual media representation of Hurricane Katrina regarded as a natural catastrophe and the terrorist attack against the Bataclan Theatre regarded as a man-made catastrophe will show a number of differences has been confirmed based on my examination.

With regards to the **product-oriented** approach I have found 20 more images of the Bataclan attack in which we could see people, than in case of the Hurricane, where natural images, wrecks, flooded homes could often be seen. It is noteworthy that images of Hurricane Katrina mainly show middle-aged black men, while the Bataclan shootings mainly showed young, white people, which is particularly interesting regarding such a multicultural, ethnically diverse capital city. (Out of the 75 photos, a total of two appeared of non-white people, therefore one can conclude that the press showed the terrorist act as a bloody revenge against the European white population as it can be assumed that not only white-skinned, local French were among the victims).

As far as their outfits go, we can find official police clothing on 38 occasions regarding the Bataclan attack, while we only see official people during rescue and help in 13 images regarding Katrina, hence images of the Bataclan shooting show much greater public involvement and co-operation than the pictures of Katrina, where people often come across in a tiny boat, being abandoned in endless water.

In the background of the photographs of Hurricane Katrina 14 people were shown, while in the images of the Bataclan shootings there were 36 humans. In the former case, natural damages caused by the storm are most often in the background, pointing to the struggle and suffering of the people, while the latter show the fear, threat and even a kind of mass chaos of the human population. Regarding the framing of the image (mise en scène), the focus was in the middle 38 times in case of the storm, while in the images of the massacre the focus was centred 66 times, generating a much more focused, direct, and possibly more violent representation.

In the photos of Hurricane Katrina, only 6 of the 75 photographs showed the motif of death – out of these, 2 merely implicitly (in one of the photos (F35), in the cemetery, there are tiny white flags recalling the victims of the hurricane, while the other photo (F55) shows only one handmade crib of a child's size, covered with sheets and bricks) while images of the massacre showed dead people in 11 pictures. Out of these 11 images 4 only implicitly referred to it, eg.: in the photo with the code F72 and F73 at the centre of the picture, a blood vessel appears, surrounded by tiny candles and bouquets. In the other 7 pictures, however, we have a very explicit, detailed depiction of death, a good example is the photo of the Bataclan concert hall, where dozens of bodies are frozen in blood (F8).

In the **procedure-based** approach, I first analysed the point of view of the camera. Most of the press images taken of Hurricane Katrina were either frontal or from above, in almost a completely balanced ratio (35 and 31 images), while in case of the massacre 48 images were taken frontally and only 11 of the above-made photographs were found, highlighting again the more focused and direct representation of the man-made catastrophe. In the case of both disasters, there are also bottom-up photographs, most of them depicting the magnitude, or the almighty power of the police, ambulance services, or symbolic figures (such as the statue of an American President Jefferson Davis or the statue of the Christ the Redeemer in Rio).

With regard to the movements of the figures, in the pictures of the storm, we can observe an active movement in 25 pictures, in 19 we see passive, resigning, hopeless figures, while 3 photos are gentle and 3 show aggressive gestures. This code was incomprehensible in case of 25 images. Regarding the images of the shooting, only 9 photos were not applicable to the motion code. There are also differences in the active movement (eg.: rescue, escape, mourning with wreaths, candle lighting): in the Bataclan analysis I found 44 active actions and only 15 passive, idle movements. Other pictures show aggression and police raids. Regarding the mimicry of the people, the most common characteristics were agony and hopelessness for both cases, but suffering and shock were also frequently presented. The difference, however, was that in the case of Hurricane Katrina, I distinguished two categories that did not show at the Bataclan shootings at all, with the determined (4 photos) and the smiling, optimistic facial expressions (with 6 photos). The images of bloodshed resulting from human wickedness therefore have no sign of hopefulness, firstly because the event could have been avoided, and secondly because of the suddenness of action. Another important factor is that in the case of a natural disaster there is no direct responsibility, so acceptance and resignation more easily develop than in case of a terrorist attack. The next code was the proxemics of the camera, which indicated whether it was a close-up or remote shot. Hurricane Katrina depicted almost the same number of distant images as close-up ones (40 distant and 35 close-ups), while in the case of the shooting the same proportion was slightly larger (56 distant and 19 close ups) as these photos could easily portray the full context, all the happenings and losses of the storm/attack. With regard to the effects codes I have not found special effects, filters or edited images as I analysed photographs of real events. For this reason I chose to explore whether the creator of the photo shows the foreground or background of the image sharply or vaguely, defining the focus of the image.

The general impression of the images of Hurricane Katrina is that they are high quality and professionally taken, and most often from the foreground and background are both sharp (57 images). On the other hand, the pictures of the Bataclan massacre clearly a significant part of them were taken by people in the streets using their phones, since there were almost as many

vague, poor quality pictures sharp ones (21 were vague, 22 were sharp). For both of the disasters, the sharp forefront and blurry background setting was typical, which portrays the events, yet obviously emphasises the focus of the image. When analysing each of the two disasters, it was noticeable that the phenomenon of time appeared in every picture, in a fairly similar way. In the case of both Katrina and Bataclan the display of slow, passive time was overrepresented (in the case of the storm waiting to be rescued, in the case of the massacre slowly recognising the events), and then they were followed by active, rescue or escape images. The shootings portrayed twice as many images of evanescence than the storm.

Finally, in the **process-oriented** approach I separated three codes: the intent of the image, the effect of the image, and the topos displayed by the image. In view of the intentions of the pictures, I have distinguished several categories, the most common of Hurricane Katrina's press photographs were the devastation caused by hurricane, the struggle to survive and the intention of showing hope. The latter, as I have already mentioned, did not appear in any form whatsoever in connection with the Bataclan massacre. Here, the pain of the survivors and their loved ones, the struggle for survival, and the intent of horror and shock could be discovered. In terms of their impact I found many similarities. Although the majority of the codes (eg.: American macho, hopelessness, irony/sarcasm, or the category of solace) did not appear at all in the images of the Bataclan terrorist attack, their most common effects are relatively consistent. In both of these disasters, most of the images were startling and exasperating. Then came the frightening category, and finally, in the case of Hurricane Katrina the third code was the striking one, while in the case of the Bataclan attack disgusting/shocking took the third place. Coming to the end of my analysis, in the light of the storm, loss, suffering and hope were the three most popular categories. The last topos, hope suggests the divine presence of God, who gives a helping hand and encourages us for a better life. The assassination included suffering, loss, and death as its most popular topoi. However, it is worth mentioning – as it falls behind by only one image from the topos of death – that the topos of belonging together was also an important factor regarding the massacre, which did not appear in the case of a hurricane at all.

In all we can conclude that there is a significant difference in the way media presents the cases when Mother Nature overwrites the normal course of human life and when men, the incarnate Evil, turns against himself. In the presentation of the hurricane, in addition to the depiction of destruction caused by the storm, and the display of human, natural and material losses and continuous struggle, the topos of rebirth, redemption and hope for a more beautiful

future appeared, while in the case of the terrorist attack, the presence of terror, suffering and death caused by chaotic conditions dominated, often with shocking and disgusting elements. The examination of the two cases has also revealed that the 3P visual rhetorical method (product, procedure, process) is a suitable means of analysis for a holistic examination of a given case, not merely considering the layout logic of the images, but also regarding their procedures and their induced effect.

4. Summary of conclusions

4.1. Proving the assumptions, summing up the results of the research

My paper has been written as a proof that images are not merely secondary, complementary entities waiting to be made complete by verbal elements, but separate, basic units of reasoning. In my view, visual elements are equally capable of arguing, communicating, criticising, making true statements or creating fake realities just as written or pronounced words do. In support of this, my dissertation set up and responded to five hypotheses and developed a new, comprehensive theoretical framework for the analysis of images. The present paper provided the examination of a natural and a man-made catastrophe – Hurricane Katrina and the Bataclan Theatre assassination – but the analytical method developed can be applied in case of any image.

My first assumption investigated whether the area of visual rhetoric could be disciplinarily seized. This assumption was inspired by the misleading appellation of visual rhetoric, which forces it into a sub-disciplinary, subordinate position compared to verbal rhetoric and to linguistic codes and rules. Yet – as I explain in my dissertation – rhetoric is not a purely linguistic symbol, and as a result, the dimensions of rhetorical processes cannot be found in discourses alone. They are there in any space-oriented, non-linear, multi-dimensional human experience that cannot be interpreted through discursive symbols, but can easily be decoded through visuality.

My second statement concerned the disciplinary existence of visual rhetorical argumentation and investigated whether visual rhetoric is a disciplinarily legitimate, independent field or it is merely an intersection. According to Nyíri, in the new world of vision and imagery, we are talking about the rebirth of visual rhetoric, while Aczél identifies rhetorical language with the imagistic expression. Justifying the field of visual rhetorical argumentation, my dissertation presented the visual rhetorical approach of Foss relying on the product/artefact and process/visual data, in which the former offers a context-oriented, result-centred approach,

focusing on a product, work of art, object, in short artefact; while the latter refers to the process of visual imaging, data analysis, suggesting a kind of interpretative approach (Foss [2005]). In addition to Foss' two-dimensional paradigm, I have presented Ott and Dickinson's more sensitive and more systematic threefold approach that describes visual rhetoric as a public message, as the founder of everyday reality and as logic, giving a comprehensive understanding to the visual rhetorical argumentation (Ott – Dickinson [2009]). After that, I described the most important counter-arguments about visual rhetoric, which argue that visual communication is, on the one hand, too arbitrary and ambiguous, and on the other hand, it does not include a truth value/proposition, and thus cannot serve as a reasoning. I have shown through three images that visual rhetorical argumentation is possible in a disciplinary way, and the statements made by the images can clearly be understood and interpreted in the true/false dimensions.

My third assumption was that visual rhetoric satisfies the quality of all three (product, procedure, process) notions of argumentation. At the beginning of my dissertation, I first introduced the argumentation as a product-type approach which – thanks to its formal logical attachment – offers a rather free concept: it does not deal with how or for whom and for what purpose the reasoning came about, however, it considers the argument merely as a result. In the approach of visual rhetoric as a product, I have clarified the basic concepts of "presence" and "vividness", which also regard visual rhetoric as a result. The approach of argumentation as a procedure suggests that argumentation is run by dynamics, procedures, regular patterns and operations. In this case, a certain visual element is interpreted in relation to another element, so – as opposed to the previous approach – the focus is on the how and not on the what. With regard to the visual rhetorical interpretation of the procedural approach, I have introduced the above-mentioned problematisation and counter-arguments about visual rhetoric, which regard rhetorical processes, the question of arbitrariness, the creation of propositions and the creation of pictorial truth or lie as a procedure. Finally, approaching the argument as a process/interpretation has created a kind of pragmatic-, impact-, and intentionbased approach, the visual rhetorical aspect of which was interpreted in the light of the media. Concepts such as the multidimensionality of media messages, ideology, interpretation, identification and language, as well as lies within visuality have been elaborated.

My fourth hypothesis was that visual rhetoric is possible without linguistic translation, which claims to be the creation of a new paradigm about visual rhetoric, and about the field of reasoning in particular. In order to answer this hypothesis, I first defined the concept of perceptions that drew me closer to understanding the complexity of elemental sensations and

human thinking. Subsequently, I summoned Lewis E. Walkup's example presented in a study in which he cites a mathematical problem related to a 3x3 cube (exactly like a Rubik cube, consisting of 27 small building-blocks) (Walkup [1965]). Walkup's example clearly demonstrates that in case of a number of tasks we do not need to translate the problem into either language or anything else; we only need the tools of visual thinking, creativity, inventiveness, and visual intelligence.

Finally, my last hypothesis related to the visual representation of natural and man-made disasters within catastrophe news. I assumed that the two different types of disaster would differ in terms of both the product, procedure and the process approach. When analysing the selected 75-75 news images, I separated a number of codes within all the three aspects. In case of the product, or result/logic-based approach, I determined the foreground, gender, age, black/white, pose/proxemics, clothing, background, and mise en scène codes; based on the procedure or dialectics-based approach, the point of view of the camera, gestures, mimics, camera proxemics, effects, and the time factor codes were selected; and last but not least in the process or rhetoric-based approach, I determined the intent, the effect and the topos of the image code. My research showed that the visual representation of the catastrophe caused by Mother Nature and the one caused by human wickedness show a number of differences. While the former presents the triad of destruction, struggle and hope/salvation, the latter shows the motives of terror, suffering and death.

4.2. The scientific usability of the product, procedure, process analysis method

In the present dissertation, I tried to demonstrate that visual rhetoric is capable of all that its verbal pair can do, and sometimes even outweighs it. Images are considered to be the primary foundation of rational and abstract thinking as well as the bearers of information that acquaint, tell, prove and argue in a way that any object becomes more vivid than by the written or spoken word. Since visual artefacts are an important part of the rhetorical environment, ignoring them and focusing only on verbal discourses would mean that we only take up a small part of the stimulus and symbols we receive every day. The rhetorical perspective of visual symbols is also motivated by the recognition that these symbols allow access to a range of human experiences that cannot be accessed through discourses, such as spatial, non-linear, multidimensional or dynamic experiences for which visuality is vital. The product-process-process triadic analysis method allows a holistic interpretation of the visual creations of reality (eg.: catastrophe). The main merit of the dissertation is to illuminate the fact that after the centuries of the dominance of words, the pictorial turn has unquestionably and irrevocably happened, the recognition of which is particularly important for the people of this age.

5. Primary sources

5.1. Printed sources

- Aczél, Petra; Logikusan dialektikus, retorikusan logikus: az érvelés "átmeneti" értelmezései. In: A. Jászó Anna – Aczél Petra (szerk.); [2006]: A prózaritmus és a szónoki beszéd. Budapest: Trezor Kiadó. (pp. 79-89). ISBN:0349000918442
- Aczél, Petra; [2009]: Új Retorika. Közélet, Kommunikáció, Kampány. Kalligram: Pozsony. ISBN: 9788081010538
- Aczél, Petra; [2012]: Médiaretorika. Magyar Mercurius: Budapest. ISBN: 978-963-9872-15-8
- Adamik, Tamás (főszerk.); [2010]: Retorikai lexikon. Kalligram: Pozsony. ISBN: 978-80-8101-344-7
- Adamik, Tamás A. Jászó, Anna Aczél, Petra; [2005]: Retorika. Osiris Kiadó: Budapest. ISBN: 9789633894668
- Arisztotelész; [1982]: Rétorika. Fordította: Adamik Tamás. Gondolat: Budapest.
- Arnheim, Rudolf; [1980]: A Plea for Visual Thinking. Critical Inquiry, Vol. 6, No. 3. The University of Chicago Press. (pp. 489-497).
- Barthes, Roland; [1977]: Image, Music, Text. Fontana Press: London. ISBN: 0 00 686135 0
- Berkowitz, Daniel A.; [1997]: Social Meanings of News: A Text-Rreader. SAGE Publications, Inc.: USA. ISBN-13: 978-0761900764; ISBN-10: 0761900764ű
- Blair, J. Anthony Johnson, Ralph; [1987]: Argumentation as Dialectical. Argumentation. (pp. 41-56). DOI: 10.1007/BF00127118
- Blair, Anthony J.; [1996]: The Possibility and Actuality of Visual Arguments, Argumentation and Advocacy, 38.o. http://www-bcf.usc.edu/~stables/blair.pdf
- Burke, Kenneth; [1969]: A Rhetoric of Motives. University of California Press: Berkeley and Los Angeles. ISBN: 0-520-01546-0
- Chandler, Daniel; [2007]: Semiotics. The Basics. Routledge: London and New York. ISBN-10: 0415363756; ISBN-13: 978-0415363754
- Császi, Lajos; [2002]: A Média Rítusai: A kommunikáció neodurkheimi elmélete. Osiris Kiadó: Budapest.
- Deli, Eszter; Media Argumentation: A Novel Approach to Television Rhetoric and the Power of the News. In: Benedek, András Nyíri, Kristóf (szerk.); [2015]: Beyond Words; Pictures, Parables, Paradoxes. Peter Lang Edition: Frankfurt. ISBN: 9783631663851 3631663854 365305883X 9783653058833

- Deli, Eszter Németh, Gabriella; [2017]: Can pictures argue? The mutual examination of visual propositions and tropes within images. SMART Project. Varna: International Management Institute.
- Dynes, Russell R. Rodríguez, H. Quarantelli, Enrico L. (szerk.); [2007]: Handbook of Disaster Research. Springer Science+Business Media: USA. ISBN: 978-0-387-739526
- Eemeren, Frans H. van Grootendorst, Rob; [2004]: A Systematic Theory of Argumentation, The Pragma-dialectical Approach. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge. ISBN: 0-521-83075-3
- Enos, Teresa (szerk.); [2010]: Encyclopedia of Rhetoric and Composition. Communication from Ancient Times to the Information Age. Routledge: New York; London. ISBN 0-203-85488-8
- Fleming, David; [2005]: Can pictures be arguments? Communication & Mass Media Complete. Argumentation & Advocacy. Summer96, Volume 33, Issue 1.
- Forgács, Gábor; [2015]: Az érvelés mint lehetséges tudomány. Élet és Tudomány, LXX. Évfolyam. 35. Szám.
- Foss, Sonja K. Foss, Karen A. Trapp, Robert; [1985]: Contemporary Perspectives on Rhetoric. Waveland Press: Illinois.
- Galtung, J. –Ruge, M. H.; [1965]: The Structure of Foreign News. Journal of Peace Research. Sage Publications. http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/002234336500200104
- Gáspári, László; [1991]: Retorika. Egységes jegyzet/Kézirat. Nemzeti Tankönyvkiadó: Budapest.
- Gombrich, E. H.; A Látható Kép. In: Horányi, Özséb (szerk.); [2003]: Kommunikáció I–II. General Press: Budapest. (pp. 92-107). ISBN: 9789639459052
- Groarke, Leo Tindale, Christopher W.; [2004]: Good Reasoning Matters! A Constructive Approach to Critical Thinking. Third Edition. Oxford University Press: New York.
- Hill, Charles A. Helmers, M.; Introduction. In: Hill, Charles A. Helmers, Marguerite; [2008]:Defining Visual Rhetorics. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates: Mahwah, New Jersey & London. ISBN: 1-4106-0997-9
- Jasinski, James; [2001]: Sourcebook on Rhetoric: Key Concepts in Contemporary Rhetorical Studies. Sage Publications: London and New Delhi. ISBN: 9780761905042
- Johnson, Ralph H.; Why "Visual Arguments" aren't Arguments. Department of Philosophy. University of Windsor.
- Kant, Immanuel; [2004]: Lectures on Logic. Cambridge University Press: UK. ISBN: 9780521546911
- King, Jeffrey C. Soames, Scott Speaks, Jeff; [2014]: New Thinking about Propositions.

 Oxford University Press: UK. ISBN-10: 0199693765; ISBN-13: 978-0199693764

- Lakoff, George Johnson, Mark; [1980]: Metaphors We Live By. University of Chicago Press: Chicago. ISBN: 9780226468013
- Lózsi, Tamás; [2017]: A reklám mint érvelés. Doktori értekezés.
- Luhmann, Niklas; [2000]: The Reality of the Mass Media. Polity Press: Cambridge. ISBN 0-8047-4077-1
- Margitházi, Beja; Látványos érvek, lehengerlő képek. A vizuális retorika pozicionálása. In:
 Raátz Judit Tóthfalussy Zsófia (szerk.); [2010]: A retorika és határtudományai.
 Trezor Kiadó: Budapest. ISBN: 978 963 8144 36 2
- McQuail, Denis; [2003]: A Tömegkommunikáció Elmélete. Osiris Kiadó: Budapest. ISBN: 9789633895641
- McQuarrie, Edward F. Philips, Barbara J.; [2008]: Go figure! New directions in advertising rhetoric. M.E. Sharpe: New York. ISBN-13: 978-0765618016; ISBN-10: 076561801X
- Mitchell, W. J. T.; [1994]: Picture theory: Essays on Verbal and Visual Representation. University of Chicago Press: Chicago. ISBN: 9780226532325
- Newton, Julianne; [2013]: The Burden of Visual Truth: The Role of Photojournalism in Mediating Reality. Routledge: New York.
- Noth, Winfred; [1995]: SRB Insights: Can Pictures Lie? 6(2) The Semiotic Review of Books: Volume 6(2). (pp. 10-12).
- Nyíri, Kristóf; [2011]: Kép és Idő. Magyar Mercurius: Budapest. ISBN: 978-963-9872-13-4
- Nyíri, Kristóf; Elfelejtett képelméletek. In: Benedek, András Nyíri, Kristóf (szerk.); [2016]: Képi Tanulás műhelye Füzetek. Visual Learning Lab Papers: Volume 3. Budapest.
- Nyíri, Kristóf; Pictorial Truth. In: Benedek, András Veszelszki, Ágnes (szerk.); [2017]:

 Virtual Reality Real Visuality. Virtual, Visual, Veridical. Peter Lang Edition:

 Frankfurt. ISBN: 978-3-631-73104-8
- Perelman, Chaïm; [1982]: The Realm of Rhetoric. University of Notre Dame Press: Notre Dame and London. ISBN: 978-0-268-01604-3
- Pratkanis, Anthony; Aronson, Elliot; [1992]: A Rábeszélőgép Élni és Visszaélni a Meggyőzés Mindennapos Mesterségével. W.H. Freeman and Company: New York-Oxford. ISBN: 9789637853036
- Quarantelli, E. (szerk.); [1998]: What is a Disaster? Perspectives on the Question. Routledge: London. ISBN-10: 0415178991; ISBN-13: 978-0415178990
- Quintilianus, Marcus F.; [2008]: Szónoklattan. Szerkesztő: Adamik Tamás. Kalligram: Pozsony. (Institution oratoria)
- Roque, Georges; [2009]: What is Visual in Visual Argumentation? OSSA Conference Archive.
- Roque, Georges; [2014]: Should Visual Arguments be Propositional in Order to be

- Arguments? Springer Science+Business Media Dordrecht. DOI: 10.1007/s10503-014-9341-3
- Searle, John R.; A képi reprezentáció. In: Horányi Özséb (szerk.); [2003]: A sokarcú kép: Válogatott tanulmányok a képek logikájáról. Typotex: Budapest. ISBN: 963 9326763
- Síklaki, István; [1994]: A Meggyőzés Pszichológiája. MTA Pszichológiai Intézete: Budapest. ISBN: 9638471115
- Sloane, Thomas O. (szerk.); [2006]: Encyclopedia of Rhetoric. © Oxford University Press. (ereference edition). The Midnight University.
 - DOI: 10.1093/acref/9780195125955.001.0001; ISBN13: 9780195125955ISBN10
- Sontag, Susan; [1973]: On Photography. Farrar, Straus & Giroux: New York. ISBN 0-7953-2699-8
- Tasnádi, Róbert; [2012]: Miről szólnak a képek? Sajtófotó, képjelentés, kontextus a média- és kommunikációkutatás nézőpontjából. Médiakutató.
- Tindale, Cristopher W.; [2004]: Rhetorical Argumentation: Principles of Theory and Practice. SAGE Publications: USA.
- Toulmin, Stephen E.; [1958]: The Uses of Argument. First Edition. Cambridge University Press: U.K. ISBN-10: 0521066441; ISBN-13: 978-0521066440
- Vico, Giambattista; [1982]: Principles of a New Science Concerning the Common Nature of Nations. (The Third New Science). In: Pompa, Leon; (szerk.& ford.); [2002]: Vico: Selected Writings. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge. (pp. 159-267). ISBN-10: 0521387264; ISBN-13: 978-0521387262
- Walton, Douglas; [1989]: Informal Logic: A Handbook for Critical Argumentation.
 Cambridge University Press: Cambridge. ISBN-10: 0521370329; ISBN-13: 978-0521370325
- Zarefsky, David; [2014]: Rhetorical Perspectives on Argumentation Selected Essays by David Zarefsky. Springer International Publishing: Switzerland. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-05485-8; ISBN: 978-3-319-05484-1
- Zelizer, Barbie; [1998]: Remembering to Forget: Holocaust Memory Through the Camera's Eye. University of Chicago Press: Chicago, IL. ISBN: 0-226-97972-5

5.2. Online sources

http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/002234336500200104

http://mp.natlib.govt.nz/detail/?id=16137&l=en

http://theinspirationroom.com/daily/2009/wwf-its-your-turn/

http://www.ng.hu/Termeszet/2008/12/Katrina_a_pusztito_hurrikan

https://courses.helsinki.fi/sites/default/files/course-

material/4482592/22.3 MT2004% 20Phillips.pdf

https://hu.pinterest.com/pin/74942781270592285/

https://ladonnapigra.wordpress.com/2013/01/24/birdsell-and-the-everlasting-visual-argument/

https://mno.hu/kulfold/felgyorsitjak-a-mentest-new-orleansban-561663

https://mno.hu/kulfold/tiz-eve-pusztitott-a-katrina-hurrikan-1301932

https://www.datacenterresearch.org/data-resources/katrina/facts-for-impact/

https://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/hurricane-katrina-media-new-

orleans_us_55dc999fe4b0a40aa3ac448d

 $\underline{https://www.nytimes.com/2015/08/23/magazine/why-new-orleans-black-residents-are-still-under-water-after-katrina.html?_r=1$

 $\underline{\text{http://www.20min.ch/ro/sports/football/story/Soudain--l-une-des-bombes-explose-en-plein-match-27994743}$

http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-3319244/Video-reveals-horrific-moment-terrorists-opened-fire-crowd-music-fans-Bataclan-killing-89-people-shows-musician-hiding-drums-escape.html

http://www.origo.hu/nagyvilag/20161110-igy-tortent-a-parizsi-terrortamadas-evfordulo.html
http://www.origo.hu/nagyvilag/20151116-megoldast-hozhat-sziriaban-a-parizsi-tragedia.html
http://content.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,988783,00.html
http://maimanohaz.blog.hu/2013/11/03/eddie_adams_leghiresebb_fotojanak_tortenete
http://www.newseum.org/2015/05/12/pulitzer-prize-photography-saigon-execution/
https://www.audubon.org/birds-of-america/booby-gannet

6. Publications

6.1. Conference publication

Deli, Eszter; [2015]: A médiaérvelés új megközelítése és a hírek hatalma. In: Doktoranduszok Országos Szövetsége Tavaszi szél: absztraktkötet 2015. p. 485. Konferencia helye, ideje: Eger, Magyarország, 2015.04.10-2015.04.12. Budapest: Publio Kiadó, p. 126. (ISBN:978-963-397-702-6)

6.2. Online Journal

Deli, Eszter; [2014]: The Hungarian Argumentation Culture in the Light of Modern Societies ONLINE JOURNAL OF COMMUNICATION AND MEDIA TECHNOLOGIES 4:(2) pp. 109-125.

6.3. Book chapter

- Deli, Eszter; [2017]: Can Images be Arguments?: The Possibility of Visual Argumentation in the WWF Nature Conservancy Campaigns. In: Benedek András, Veszelszki Ágnes (szerk.) Virtual Reality Real Visuality: Virtual, Visual, Veridical. 198 p. Frankfurt am Main; New York; Berlin; Bern; Bruxelles; New York; Oxford; Wien: Peter Lang GmbH, Internationaler Verlag der Wissenschaften, 2017. pp. 41-50. (Series Visual Learning; 7.) (ISBN:978-3-631-73104-8)
- Deli, Eszter; [2015]: Media Argumentation: A novel approach to Television Rhetoric and the Power of the News. In: András Benedek, Kristóf Nyíri (szerk.) Beyond Words: Pictures, Parables, Paradoxes. p. 260. Frankfurt: Peter Lang Verlag, 2015. p. 177. (Visual Learning; 5.) (ISBN:978-3-631-66385-1)

6.4. Publications with a co-writer

- Barkóczi, Janka Deli, Eszter; [2016]: Egy hazai katasztrófahír és a negatív hírek közlésének stratégiája: a negatív hírközlés stratégiája: a vörösiszap-katasztrófa hírelemzése az első napi tv-beszámolók alapján. JEL-KÉP: Kommunikáció, Közvélemény, Média 5:(3) pp. 1-9.
- Deli, Eszter Németh, Gabriella (2017): Can Picures Argue? The mutual examination of visual propositions and tropes within images. In: Barkóczi, Janka Uhl, Gabriella Túry, György (szerk.) (2017): Skills for Managing the Arts: Open Educational Resources and Experiential Learning in Support of Youth Entrepreneurship and Employment in the Arts and Creative Sector (SMART). Elérhető: http://www.managing-art.eu/en/file/27
 Utolsó megtekintés: 2018. 06. 20.
- Deli, Eszter Németh, Gabriella (2018): Money does not talk. The image of money talks. In. *Society & Economy*. Kiadatás alatt. Tervezett megjelenés: 2018 ősz
- Deli, Eszter Németh, Gabriella (2018): A vizuális enthüméma metaforikus ábrázolása In. Opus et Educatio. Kiadatás alatt. Tervezett megjelenés: 2018 ősz
- Sipos, Júlia Deli, Eszter; [2016]: Képi reprezentáció és hitelesség a 21. századi médiatartalom előállításában. Új ecset, új vászon: A moder képkorszak lehetőségei és kihívásai. Budapest: BME GTK Műszaki pedagógia Tanszék, p. 30. (Képi Tanulás Műhelye Füzetek. Visual learning Lab papers; 1.sz. (2016/1.).) (ISBN:9789633132326)

6.5. Related presentations

- Visual Learning Conference, Szervező: Budapesti Műszaki Egyetem Product, Process,
 Procedure: A New Theoretical Framework for Visual Rhetoric in Disaster News
 Communication
- Money Talks? Communication as/and Economy, Szervező: Budapesti Corvinus Egyetem Money Does Not Talk, The Image of Money Talks, előadó
- Visual Learning Conference, Szervező: Budapesti Műszaki Egyetem The Challenges and Possibilities of Visual Rhetoric, előadó
- Visual Learning Lab, A Képi Tanulás Műhelye, koreferens: Képi reprezentáció és hitelesség a 21. századi médiatartalom előállításában című előadáshoz, képi érvelés, vizuális retorika, újságírás témában
- Visual Learning Conference, Szervező: Budapesti Műszaki Egyetem Catastrophe News The communication strategy of national disaster news, előadó
- Tavaszi Szél Konferencia, Eszterházy Károly Főiskola, Eger, Szervező: Doktoranduszok Országos Szövetsége – Médiaérvelés
- Visual Learning Conference, Szervező: Budapesti Műszaki Egyetem Media Rhetoric: A New Approach to Media Argumentation and the Power of the News
- Europa Środkowo-Wschodnia. W oczekiwaniu na powrot Imperium?, Szervező: Krakkói

 Jagelló Egyetem The Hungarian Argumentation Culture in the Light of East-Central

 European Societies

7. Appendix

The dissertation includes a 114-page-long appendix that contains 150 images according to the following subdivision: 75 photos of Hurricane Katrina regarded as a natural disaster and 75 photos of the Bataclan Theatre shooting regarded as a man-made catastrophe. Each image is signed with a code and shows the exact link of source.